THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 09 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-26-02135

Appellate Case No. 2015-001233

Mitchell D. Snider Appellant,

v.

CitiMortgage, Inc. and
Kim Sprinkle Snider, Defendants

Of Whom CitiMortgage, Inc. is Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Benjamin A. Baroody, Esq.
BELLAMY, RUTENBERG, COPELAND,
EPPS, GRAVELY & BOWERS, P.A.
1000 29th Avenue North
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29577
(843) 448-2400
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. CAN A BILATERAL CONTRACT BE MODIFIED UNILATERALLY?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO CONSIDER CITIMORTGAGE'S DUTY TO USE GOOD BUSINESS JUDGMENT IN EXECUTING A LOAN MODIFICATION WITHOUT A CO-BORROWER'S SIGNATURE, AN ISSUE OF FACT, PRIOR TO GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT?
3. IS A LOAN MODIFICATION A "CONSUMER CREDIT TRANSACTION" AND/OR A "CONSUMER LOAN" UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSUMER PROTECTION CODE?
4. IS THE CONSUMER MORTGAGE INDUSTRY EXEMPT FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT WAS JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM SEEKING RESCISSION OF THE LOAN MODIFICATION AGREEMENT?
6. SHOULD A LOAN MODIFICATION AGREEMENT THAT MATERIALLY CHANGES THE TERMS OF A LOAN TO THE DETRIMENT OF ONE BORROWER REQUIRE THE SUPERVISION OF A SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mitchell D. Snider (“Appellant”) brings this action against CitiMortgage, Inc. (“CitiMortgage”) for legal and/or equitable relief following the unilateral modification of a promissory note (“Note”) without his authorization or consent. Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider, his ex-wife, are joint obligors on a Note that was executed during their marriage, which is secured by a first mortgage upon their former marital residence located in Horry County, South Carolina. (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 6). Respondent, CitiMortgage, is a loan servicer that currently holds the Note and mortgage executed by Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider. (Def. Mem. In Support of MSJ, p. 3). On July 1, 2011, Kim Sprinkle Snider and CitiMortgage executed a Loan Modification Agreement (“the Modification”), which modified the Note, without Mr. Snider’s signature, knowledge, or consent. (Verified Complaint, p. 2, paras. 7-10), (Loan Modification Agreement). The Modification increased the principal balance of the Note from \$183,898.55 to \$188,530.68, extended the term of the Note from an end date of May 1, 2025 to July 1, 2051, and increased the amount of interest to be paid over the lifetime of the Note from \$101,644.26 to \$267,872.42. (Note, p. 1), (Loan Modification Agreement, p. 1), (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 4, para. 22), (CitiMortgage 30(b)(6) Deposition, pp. 70-71), (Snider Deposition pp. 27-28), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, pp. 27-28, 30-32). Additionally, the amount of money from each monthly mortgage payment applied to the principal balance of the Note decreased from \$701.00 per month to only \$108.00 per month after the Modification. (Snider Deposition, pp. 27), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 31).

On April 5, 2013, Appellant commenced this action against CitiMortgage and Kim Sprinkle Snider¹, claiming that CitiMortgage had no right to change the terms of the Note without his consent and seeking rescission of the Modification, amongst other remedies. (Verified Complaint pp. 1-8). Specifically, in his Verified Complaint, Appellant asserted causes of action for Declaratory Judgment/Novation, Estoppel, Rescission, Breach of Contract, Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, Interference with a Contractual Relationship, and violations of both the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code and the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. (Verified Complaint, pp. 1-8). In sum, Appellant's Verified Complaint alleges that the Modification of the Note without Appellant's consent was done in direct contravention of South Carolina law and requests relief in the form of a declaratory judgment either releasing Appellant from his obligations on the Note and Modification or, alternatively, rescission of the Modification and/or damages. (Verified Complaint, pp. 1-8).

On June 10, 2013, CitiMortgage Answered the Verified Complaint, denying all material allegations. (Answer to Complaint, pp. 1-10). Kim Sprinkle Snider has never answered the Complaint nor made an appearance in this case. On August 14, 2014, CitiMortgage filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (Defendant CitiMortgage's Motion for Summary Judgment). On November 19, 2014, the trial court held a hearing on CitiMortgage's Motion for Summary Judgment and took the Motion under advisement. (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 1). On January 23, 2015, the trial court entered

¹ Appellant asserted a single cause of action for Interference with a Contractual Relationship against Kim Sprinkle Snider in his Verified Complaint. Kim Sprinkle Snider is in default.

a Form 4 Order granting CitiMortgage's Motion for Summary Judgment and ending the case (Form 4 Order), which was followed by the trial court's entry of a more detailed Order granting CitiMortgage's Motion for Summary Judgment on February 24, 2015. (Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment). On March 9, 2015, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration (Motion for Reconsideration), which the trial Court subsequently denied by Order dated June 14, 2015. (Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration). This Appeal followed.

FACTS

In 2000, Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider built a residence ("marital residence") located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 1, para. 2). Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider financed the construction of the marital residence with a mortgage loan wherein they were named as joint obligors. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 1., para. 2). On April 26, 2005, Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider refinanced their mortgage loan by the execution of a Note, wherein they were again named as joint obligors. (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 6). The Note was for a principal balance of \$225,000.00 plus 5.5% annual interest, to be paid by monthly payments of \$1,547.75 from June 1, 2005 until May 1, 2025. (Note, p. 1).

On March 10, 2009, Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider divorced. (Final Decree of Divorce, p. 1-5). Pursuant to the terms of the Final Decree of Divorce, which incorporates a written settlement agreement ("Settlement Agreement"), Appellant deeded his one-half interest in the marital residence to Kim Sprinkle Snider. (Settlement Agreement, p. 5), (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 2, para. 6), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, pp. 7,

26). However, because Kim Sprinkle Snider was financially unable to refinance the home, both the Appellant and Kim Sprinkle Snider remained jointly obligated on the Note and mortgage. (Settlement Agreement, p. 6), (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 2, para. 7), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, pp. 7-8). Appellant was ordered to make monthly alimony payments for a period of seventy-two months in the amount of \$1,547.75, which was equivalent to the monthly mortgage payments due to CitiMortgage. (Settlement Agreement, p. 3), (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 2., para. 8), (Verified Petition For Rule To Show Cause, p. 2, para. 3). The Settlement Agreement gives Appellant the right to directly contact the mortgage company to verify payments are being made timely and further provides that Kim Sprinkle Snider shall indemnify and hold Appellant harmless against any liability due to any default on the mortgage and Note. (Settlement Agreement, p. 6). The Settlement Agreement was structured in this manner for the purpose of enabling Kim Sprinkle Snider to improve her financial situation enough to ultimately refinance the Note into her sole obligation. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 2. para. 8-9).

In January 2011, despite timely paying his alimony obligations, CitiMortgage notified Appellant that Kim Sprinkle Snider had not made mortgage payments in December 2010 or January 2011 and that the account was delinquent. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 2., paras. 10-13), (Verified Petition For Rule to Show Cause, p. 2, para. 5), (Order Pursuant to Defendant's Order and Rule to Show Cause, p. 2, para. 3). In April 2011, Kim Sprinkle Snider contacted Appellant and stated that she was considering applying for a loan modification with CitiMortgage, which, if executed, would release Appellant from any further obligation or liability on the Note and mortgage. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, pp.

2-3, para. 14). On April 11, 2011, Appellant contacted CitiMortgage to ascertain whether Kim Sprinkle Snider had applied for the Modification and to object to a Modification being executed without his consent. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 3, para. 15). During Appellant's April 11, 2011 telephone conversation with CitiMortgage, he was informed that Kim Sprinkle Snider had applied for the Modification, her application was being processed, CitiMortgage could proceed with the Modification without his consent, and that even if the loan was modified, Appellant would remain obligated on the Note because it was not a refinance, nor an assumption. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 3., para. 15).

On July 1, 2011, Kim Sprinkle Snider and CitiMortgage executed the Modification without Appellant's signature or consent. (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 7-9), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 27). The Modification was enforced despite its own terms requiring Appellant's signature:

“Borrower(s) understand that the Lender’s consent to this Agreement is conditioned upon all Borrower(s) properly signing and returning this Agreement without any alterations or deletions and making all monthly payments when due.” (Loan Modification Agreement p. 5, para. 10) (emphasis added).

Appellant received no notification, correspondence, telephone call, or other communication regarding the execution of the Modification, (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 3, para. 17), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 27), and did not learn that the Modification had been executed until he accessed the CitiMortgage account online, later in July 2011. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 3, para. 18).

On September 12, 2011, in an effort to address Kim Sprinkle Snider's default on the Note, Appellant filed a Verified Petition for a Rule to Show Cause in the Horry County Family Court. (Verified Petition for Rule to Show Cause, pp. 1-4). The Verified Petition requests that the Family Court direct the former marital residence to be sold and the mortgage satisfied or, in the alternative, that Appellant be allowed to make the mortgage payments directly to CitiMortgage rather than as alimony to Kim Sprinkle Snider. (Verified Petition for Rule to Show Cause, p. 3). In his Affidavit In Support of the Verified Petition for Rule to Show Cause, Appellant conditioned his request to make his alimony payments directly to CitiMortgage upon the possibility of a scenario in which the loan modification *did not* result in the removal of his obligation on the Note.² (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider in Support of Verified Pet. for Rule to Show Cause, p. 2, para. 7), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, pp. 37-39).

On July 26, 2012, a hearing was held in the Family Court on Appellant's Verified Petition for Rule to Show Cause, at which time the Family Court did not address the validity of the Modification. (Order Pursuant to Defendant's Order and Rule to Show Cause, p. 1). Instead, the Family Court Ordered Appellant to make the monthly mortgage payments directly to CitiMortgage and to offset his alimony to Kim Sprinkle Snider accordingly. (Order Pursuant to Defendant's Order and Rule to Show Cause, pp. 2-3, paras. 6-7).

² "In the event [Kim Sprinkle Snider's] loan modification is concluded, but does not result in my name being removed from the mortgage loan, I would request, in the very least, that I be allowed to make all future mortgage payments directly to CitiMortgage...[.]" (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider in Support of Verified Pet. for Rule to Show Cause, p. 2, para 7).

Appellant has made the remainder of his alimony payments in the manner Ordered by the Family Court. (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 4, para. 21).

Appellant did not receive any formal notice from CitiMortgage that the unauthorized Modification had been executed until October 23, 2012. (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 10). On November 13, 2012, Appellant served CitiMortgage with a letter notice of the unauthorized Modification and requesting that the Modification be deemed a novation, releasing him from his obligation on the Note, since CitiMortgage and Kimberly Sprinkle Snider had elected to enforce the Modifications terms without him. (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 11). Since the execution of the Modification without Appellant's consent, Kim Sprinkle Snider and CitiMortgage have elected to perform the terms and conditions of the Note pursuant to the Modification. (Verified Complaint, p. 3, para. 12). The Modification has altered Appellant's credit standing and debt to income ratio by extending the maturity date of the Note by twenty-six years and increasing both the principal balance of the Note and the amount of interest to paid over the life of the Note. (Loan Modification Agreement, p. 2), (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, p. 4, para. 22) (CitiMortgage 30(b)(6) Deposition, pp. 70-71) (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 27-28, 30-32). Appellant's last alimony payment was due in February of 2015. (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 22), (Snider Deposition, p. 29).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRC: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving

party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Hurst v. East Coast Hockey League, Inc., 371 S.C. 33, 36, 637 S.E.2d 560, 561 (2006). In cases where there is no heightened burden of proof, “the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). When a party appeals an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. Hurst, 371 S.C. at 36, 637 S.E.2d at 561-62.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT A BILATERAL CONTRACT MAY BE MODIFIED UNILATERALLY.

The trial court erred in determining that CitiMortgage could change the terms of the Note without Appellant’s consent and over his express objection. First, this holding is in direct contravention of fundamental South Carolina contract law which requires a “meeting of the minds” between all parties to a contract in order to validly modify a contract. Player v. Chandler, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893-94 (1989). Second, by allowing CitiMortgage to unilaterally execute the Modification pursuant to a Fannie Mae policy, the trial court incorrectly held that a corporate policy preempts state contract law. Finally, CitiMortgage’s own Loan Modification Agreement contains a provision requiring the signatures of all parties to the Note in order to enforce the Modification. (Loan Modification Agreement, p. 5, para. 10). By incorrectly determining that this provision is a condition

precedent, the trial court allowed CitiMortgage to essentially waive acceptance, which is an essential element of contract formation and/or modification under South Carolina law.

A. Fundamental State Contract Law Requires A “Meeting Of The Minds” In Order To Execute A Valid Contract Modification.

CitiMortgage’s execution of the Modification without the consent of Appellant violates fundamental South Carolina contract law. In South Carolina, any modification of a written contract must satisfy all requisites of a valid contract. Chandler, 299 S.C. at 104. A key requisite in forming a valid and enforceable contract is that there be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. Id. at 105. This “meeting of the minds” cannot be based upon secret purpose or intention of one of the parties. Id. It must be based upon “purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known.” Id. “One party to a contract may not unilaterally alter its terms [and a] modification of a contract requires the mutual assent of both, or all, parties to the contract.” 17A Am. Jur. 2d *Contracts* § 507 (2015). Therefore, pursuant to South Carolina law, because a contract cannot be validly created without a meeting of the minds, likewise, a contract cannot be modified without a meeting of the minds. See Chandler, 299 S.C. at 104-05.

It is clear from the record that there was no “meeting of the minds” before the Modification of the Note was executed. Both Kim Sprinkle Snider and Appellant are legally obligated as co-borrowers on the Note, (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 6), (Note), meaning that under South Carolina law, in order to execute a valid modification the Note, CitiMortgage, Kim Sprinkle Snider, and Appellant must all consent to the Modification.

Instead, CitiMortgage executed the Modification with only Kim Sprinkle Snider's signature, over Appellant's express objection and without his signature or consent. (Loan Modification Agreement, p. 6), (Affidavit of Mitchell Snider, pp. 3, paras. 15, 17-18), (Verified Complaint, p. 2, para. 7-8), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, p. 27). Pursuant to these facts, the Modification is void under an analysis of fundamental state contract law and the trial court erred in not applying state contract law to this issue.

B. A Fannie Mae Corporate Policy Does Not Preempt Fundamental State Contract Law.

The trial court erred by holding that a Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") guideline preempts the application of fundamental South Carolina contract law to note modifications. In doing so, the trial court has not only allowed CitiMortgage to execute and enforce a Modification of the Note without Appellant's consent, an act which would otherwise be void and unenforceable under the laws of this State, but also effectively held that a corporation's policies and procedures trump South Carolina contract law that has been in existence since before our country's founding. See Essay Upon the Law of Contracts and Agreements (1790) ("We have already suggested, that it is of the essence of every contract or agreement, that the parties to be bound thereby should consent to whatever is stipulated; for, otherwise, no obligation can be contracted or concomitant right created."); See also Restatement (First) of Contracts § 127 (1932) ("The principles of §§ 85-93 are applicable to several and to joint and to joint and several contracts, so far as concerns the power of a promisor to create a new contract binding himself, or to vary his own previous

duty, but *one promisor has no power to affect other promisors unless they have actually or apparently authorized him to do so.*" (emphasis added).

In its Memorandum In Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment, CitiMortgage argued that the 2011 Fannie Mae servicing guidelines, inclusive of a signature exception³, preempt state contract law, allowing CitiMortgage to modify loans without the signatures and/or consent of all co-borrowers. (Def. Mem. In Support of MSJ, pp. 11-14). Appellant opposed this assertion by arguing that a Fannie Mae corporate guideline neither expressly nor impliedly preempts South Carolina contract law. (Def. Mem. In Support of MSJ, pp. 2-5), (Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript, pp. 28-32, 39-42). The trial court neglected to rule on Appellant's preemption argument in its February 24, 2015 Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, therefore, Appellant requested that it do so in Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration. In its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, the trial court ruled that the signature exception is considered 'standard industry practice' for purposes of federal law" as part of Congress's enactment of loan servicing standards under the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HAMP") and the Troubled Asset Relief Program, both of which fall under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act ("the EES Act"). (Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, p. 3). The trial court Ordered that because the servicing contract between CitiMortgage and third party owner, Fannie Mae, incorporated the loan servicing

³ "In cases where a borrower and co-borrower are unmarried and either borrower or coborrower relinquish all rights to the property securing the mortgage loan through a recorded quitclaim deed, the non-occupying borrower that has relinquished property rights is not required to...sign the HAMP documents but remains liable for the outstanding mortgage debt." Fannie Mae Single Family 2011 Servicing Guide, Pt. VII, Ch. 6, § 609.04.06, *available at* <https://www.efanniemae.com/sf/guides/ssg/svcg/svc061011.pdf>.

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