THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
NOV 06 2015
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-26-02135

Appellate Case No. 2015-001233

Mitchell D. Snider, Appellant,

v.

CitiMortgage, Inc., Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

Thad H. Westbrook
SC Bar No. 16635
E-Mail: thad.westbrook@nelsonmullins.com
Sarah B. Nielsen
SC Bar No. 78384
E-Mail: sarah.nielsen@nelsonmullins.com
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

Attorneys for Respondent CitiMortgage, Inc.

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

ARGUMENTS

I. APPELLANT DID NOT APPEAL THE LOWER COURT'S RULINGS ON NOVATION AND ESTOPPEL OR THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT HE HAS NOT SUFFERED DAMAGES AND, THEREFORE, THOSE RULINGS CONSTITUTE THE LAW OF THE CASE.

Appellant fails to appeal the rulings on two of his claims, novation and estoppel, and, therefore, those rulings constitute the law of the case. (2/24/15 Order at ¶¶ 14, 15.) Further, Appellant did not appeal the lower court's finding that he did not suffer any damages and that his credit actually improved during the relevant time-frame. (*Id.* at ¶ 20.) This holding also constitutes the law of the case. *See Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.”).

For purposes of the litigation and this appeal, Appellant is bound by the lower court's holding that “the Loan Modification Agreement, based on its plain terms, modifies *the existing agreement, i.e., the Note and Mortgage; and does not extinguish it.*” (2/24/15 Order at ¶ 14 (emphasis added).) Thus, even if Appellant does not want to pay the loan back under the terms of the Loan Modification Agreement, he and Ms. Sprinkle are still bound to repay the debt evidenced by the Note. There simply is no getting around his obligations to repay the funds borrowed in 2005. The question is only whether Appellant and Ms. Sprinkle *must* repay the debt over a period of 20 years, as required by the Note, or *may* repay the debt over a period of 46 years, as allowed by the Loan Modification Agreement. Appellant takes issue with the latter.

The lower court held that estoppel is only an affirmative defense, not an independent claim and, for that reason, Appellant cannot recover damages from Respondent pursuant to this claim. (*Id.* at ¶ 15.) After holding that estoppel is only an

affirmative defense, the lower court went on to hold that Appellant “failed to present any evidence showing that [Respondent] induced him to alter his position, resulting in prejudice to him.” (*Id.*) Appellant is now bound by these unappealed rulings. *See In re Morrison*, 321 S.C. 370, 372 n.2, 468 S.E.2d 651, 652 n.2 (1996) (“This ruling is the law of the case since it is not contested on appeal.”).

Finally, because Appellant did not appeal the finding that he has not suffered any cognizable damages or loss as a result of Respondent’s conduct, this finding also constitutes the law of the case and binds Appellant on appeal. (2/24/15 Order at ¶ 20.) In light of the established law of the case, the lower court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent on all claims which require “damages” as an element of the cause of action is proper.

II. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE TWO ISSUES ON APPEAL FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

In Appellant’s Initial Brief, he presents six issues for appeal, two of which have not been preserved. (*See* App.’s Initial Br. at p.1.) Specifically, issues 1 and 2, are not preserved for appellate review because the lower court did not issue a ruling in its Order granting summary judgment as to whether a bilateral contract can be modified unilaterally or as to whether CitiMortgage did or did not have a duty to use good business judgment in accepting the Loan Modification Agreement with only one signature. Appellant also failed to request a ruling on these issues in his very limited Motion to Reconsider. (*See id.* (“Statement of Issues on Appeal”); *see also* 2/24/15 Order; Mot. to Reconsider.) Because these two issues are not preserved for review, they cannot be considered by this Court and, accordingly, cannot serve as grounds for reversal of the lower court’s ruling.

“Preserving issues for appellate review is a fundamental component of appellate practice.” *Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 349 S.C. 531, 532-33, 564 S.E.2d 322, 323 (2001). The error preservation rules definitively require two criteria to be met before an issue is preserved for appellate review: (1) raise the issue to the circuit court, and (2) obtain a ruling on the issue from the circuit court. See *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998); *Holy Loch Distribs., Inc. v. Hitchcock*, 340 S.C. 20, 531 S.E.2d 282 (2000). The litigant must specifically raise the issue and also obtain a ruling on that issue from the circuit court. See, e.g., *Wilke*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733. If the circuit court does not rule on the specific issue, it is incumbent on the losing party to file a motion in accordance with Rule 59, SCRPC, requesting a ruling from the circuit court on that specific issue that was left unaddressed. See *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Grp.*, 347 S.C. 333, 343, 554 S.E.2d 870, 876 (Ct. App. 2001). Failure to follow these explicit rules renders the issue not preserved for appeal.

The Order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent did not address or rule on these issues. Moreover, while Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider, it was very limited in scope and did not request a ruling from the circuit court on either of the first two issues outlined in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. Therefore, Issues 1 and 2, are not preserved for appellate review and cannot serve as grounds for reversal of the lower court’s Order. To the extent this Court considers the unpreserved issues, they fail on the merits as outlined below.

A. Appellant's Argument that the Trial Court Incorrectly Found that a Bilateral Contract Cannot be Modified Unilaterally Ignores the Actual Ruling of the Trial Court and Ignores Applicable Law.

Appellant argues that the lower court “erred in determining that [Respondent] could change the terms of the Note without Appellant’s consent and over his express objection.” (App.’s Initial Br. at p.9.) In this section, Appellant argues that state contract law requires a “meeting of the minds” for the modification to be valid, that federal law does not “preempt” state contract law, and that the Loan Modification Agreement included language requiring the signature of the borrowers. (*Id.* at pp.9–21.) As noted in Section II, *supra*, the lower court never ruled on whether state contract law required Appellant to consent to the Loan Modification in order for it to be valid or whether preemption was at play in this case. However, even if the issues were somehow preserved, the arguments necessarily fail.

1. *It is “Standard Industry Practice” to Excuse the Signature of a Borrower Where there is a Divorce and Quit Claim Deed to the Other Borrower.*

While Appellant spends a considerable portion of his brief discussing express and implied preemption, the lower court never considered or ruled upon preemption in the Order granting summary judgment. The lower court also did not rule on preemption in the Order denying the limited Motion to Reconsider. Instead, the lower court looked to and ruled on the impact of “standard industry practice” on Appellant’s claim for rescission. (5/1/15 Order at ¶ 5(a).)

As part of the Troubled Asset Relief Program, Congress directed certain “[r]esidential mortgage loan *servicing standards*” be implemented by the Secretary of the Treasury and subsequently carried out by servicers. 12 U.S.C. § 5219 (emphasis added).

The Secretary was required to “implement a plan that seeks to maximize assistance for homeowners and use [its] authority . . . to encourage the servicers of the underlying mortgages . . . to take advantage of . . . other available programs to minimize foreclosures.” *Id.* at (a)(1). Fannie Mae, the undisputed owner of the loan at issue in this case, is considered the financial agent for the Treasury, and serves to assist in administering these “other available programs to minimize foreclosures.” (*See* Fannie Mae Announcement 09-05R, April 21, 2009; Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at p.12.).

Further, as part of the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, Congress sought to “provide authorities and facilities that the Secretary of the Treasury can use to restore liquidity and stability to the financial system of the United States” and “to ensure that such authority and such facilities are used in a manner that . . . preserves homeownership.” 12 U.S.C. § 5201(1), (2)(B). To further facilitate this goal, servicers, such as Respondent, were provided protection from liability from investors and other parties when approving a qualified loss mitigation plan:

A servicer that is deemed to be acting in the best interests of all investors and other parties under this section shall not be liable to any party who is owed a duty . . . and shall not be subject to any injunction, stay, or other equitable relief to such party, based solely on the implementation by the servicer of a qualified loss mitigation plan.

15 U.S.C. § 1639a(b). The guidelines used by servicers were also provided protection when Congress found that “[t]he qualified loss mitigation guidelines issued by the Secretary of the Treasury under the Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 shall constitute *standard industry practice* for purposes of all Federal and State laws.” *Id.* at 1639a(c) (emphasis added). The lower court’s finding was that, as outlined below, the signature exception applied by Respondent in this case was a “standard industry practice” subject

to protection under federal law—not a preemption of state contract law. (See Ex. B to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at ¶ 16 (“This Security Instrument shall be governed by federal law and the law of the jurisdiction where the Property is located.”).)

The loan that is the subject of this case, as a Fannie Mae loan, is subject to the Mortgage Selling and Servicing Contract (“MSSC”), which incorporates by reference the terms of the Fannie Mae servicing guidelines and servicing announcements. This includes the requirement that the servicers abide by HAMP directives. See FNMA Single Family 2011 Servicing Guide, Pt. I, Ch. 2, § 201; Pt. VII, Ch. 6, § 609 <https://www.efanniemae.com/sf/guides/ssg/svcg/svc061011.pdf>. In instances where a borrower is not eligible for HAMP, servicers are required to consider alternative loss mitigation options as protected and encouraged by 12 U.S.C. § 5219. See *id.* at Pt. VII, Ch. 4, § 401; see also *id.* at Pt. VII, Ch. 6, § 609.04.07. More specifically, the guidelines outline the signature exception for when the borrower and co-borrower are divorced:

In cases where a borrower and co-borrower are unmarried and either borrower or coborrower *relinquish all rights to the property securing the mortgage loan through a recorded quitclaim deed*, the *non-occupying borrower that has relinquished property rights is not required* to provide income documentation or *to sign the HAMP documents but remains liable for the outstanding mortgage debt*.

Id. at Part VII, Ch. 6, § 609.04.06 (emphasis added). This exception has, under the guidelines, carried over to other loss mitigation options, including non-HAMP related modifications, short sales, and deeds-in-lieu. See *id.* at Part VII, Ch. 6, § 610.03.

Based on the foregoing, the guidelines set forth in Fannie Mae’s servicing guide are those implemented pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5219, to be carried out by servicers, and are considered “standard industry practice.” 15 U.S.C. § 1639a(c). Because the

undisputed facts evidence that Appellant and Ms. Sprinkle were unmarried at the time of the modification and Appellant deeded his interest in the Subject Property to Ms. Sprinkle, Respondent followed “standard industry practice” in excusing Appellant’s signature. As Appellant was aware in April 2011, “he would remain liable for the underlying debt even in light of the resulting Loan Modification Agreement.” (2/24/15 Order at ¶ 19; *see also* M. Snider Aff. at ¶ 15.)

Appellant failed to present any case law supporting an argument that the lower court may only consider this “standard industry practice” if it preempts state contract law. Courts commonly consider the interplay between state and federal law and, where applicable, can apply both. The lower court properly found that Respondent complied with the servicing guidelines implemented by the Secretary of the Treasury and adopted by Fannie Mae when it excused the signature of Appellant.

2. *State Contract Law Provides that Acceptance Can Exist Through Conduct.*

Additionally, even ignoring the fact that Appellant’s signature can be excused in accordance with “standard industry practice,” his argument that state contract law requires his acceptance for the Loan Modification Agreement to be binding is fatally flawed. The undisputed facts evidence that Appellant accepted the modification through performance.

In April 2011, Appellant was aware that Respondent would not remove his name from the loan even if Ms. Sprinkle obtained the modification. (2/24/15 Order at ¶ 19; *see also* M. Snider Aff. at ¶ 15.) Additionally, in July 2011, Appellant became aware of the fact that the loan was modified. (Ex. N to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at Interrog. 11.) Then, in September 2011, Appellant asked the Family Court to allow him to offset

his alimony payments by paying the modified mortgage payment amount to Respondent rather than paying Ms. Sprinkle his full monthly alimony payment. (*Id.* at Exs. I and J.) This is important because Appellant admits that he remained obligated under the Note and, therefore, was contractually obligated to pay Respondent the monthly mortgage payment and separately obligated by court order to pay Ms. Sprinkle the monthly alimony payment. Appellant obtained a financial benefit from going to the Family Court by obtaining an offset in alimony. (Aff. of M. Snider at ¶ 7.) Appellant then proceeded to pay the lower modified mortgage payment to Respondent every month for 2 ½ years—from August 1, 2012, to February 1, 2015. (Ex. N to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at Interrog. 6; Ex. H at 21:17–22:21.) The undisputed facts evidence that Appellant performed on the Loan Modification Agreement by paying the lower modified payment, even after he knew that it did not remove him from the loan, thereby accepting its terms.⁴ See, e.g., *Scott v. Mid Carolina Homes, Inc.*, 293 S.C. 191, 359 S.E.2d 291 (1987), *overruled on other grounds by Ward v. Dick Dyer and Assocs., Inc.*, 304 S.C. 152, 403 S.E.2d 310 (1991).

Finally, South Carolina law also provides that “[a] written contract may be modified by the parties thereto in any manner they choose.” *Mebane v. Taylor*, 164 S.C. 87, 94, 162 S.E. 65, 68 (1932). Here, the Note, on its face, states that “[t]he Note Holder may enforce its rights under this Note against each person individually or against all of us together.” (Ex. A to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at ¶ 8.) Where “more than one person signs this Note, each person is fully and personally obligated to keep all of the promises made in this Note, including *the promise to pay the full amount owed.*” (*Id.*

⁴ Appellant wrote to Respondent in 2012, asking that his name be removed from the loan and he was informed that he remained “liable for the remaining life of the loan.” (Ex. L to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J.)

(emphasis added).) “This means that any one of us [Appellant and/or Ms. Sprinkle] may be required to pay all of the amounts owed under this Note.” (*Id.*) Appellant and Ms. Sprinkle are each individually liable for the entire amount of the debt.

The Loan Modification Agreement also does not materially or adversely impact Appellant’s and Ms. Sprinkle’s obligation to repay the entire debt owed. Instead, it serves as Respondent’s waiver of its right to collect the money over a 20 year period. The modification allows—but does not require—Appellant and Ms. Sprinkle to repay the debt over a 46 year period. (*See id.* at ¶ 4 (“I have the right to make payments of Principal at any time before they are due. . . . I may make a full Prepayment or Partial Prepayment without paying a Prepayment charge.”); Ex. B to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at ¶ 12 (“Extension of the time for payment or modification of amortization of the sums secured by this Security Instrument granted by Lender to Borrower any Successor in Interest of Borrower shall not operate to release the liability of Borrower or any Successors in Interest of Borrower.”); Ex. G to Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sum. J. at ¶ 6(b), (c).) In fact, if Appellant is not satisfied with Ms. Sprinkle making the lower monthly payments over the 46-year period, he can makeup the difference with his own payment each month so that the loan is satisfied in 20 years. As a result, the modification does not run afoul of state law contract law principles.

3. *This Court May Affirm on the Basis of an Additional Sustaining Ground: Ratification.*

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